I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

The Petitioners are Andrew Howlett, M.D. et ux, and Providence 

Physician Services Company, aka Providence Orthopedic Specialties 

(hereinafter referred to collectively as "Dr. Howlett"). 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals Decision Dr. Howlett seeks to have reviewed 

has issued by Division ill of the Court of Appeals on May 10, 2016 (a copy of 

the Opinion is provided in the Appendix). 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. In a medical negligence case, to qualify an expert witness to 

testify on the standard of care must the offering party establish, through the 

expert's own testimony, that the expert is personally familiar with the 

applicable standard of care? 

B. In a medical negligence case, must an expert witness 

addressing the causal relationship between an event and an injury express the 

causation opinion in terms of probability or likelihood, to a "reasonable 

degree of medical certainty?" 

C. On the issue of informed consent, must a plaintiffs expert, as 

part of establishing the materiality of an alleged risk, provide some testimony 

regarding both the scientific nature o'f the risk and the likelihood or 
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probability of its occurrence? 

D. If the trial court errs by excluding a portion of an expert's 

testimony, to warrant reversal on appeal must the exclusion of the testL.'nony 

have been prejudicial? 

IV. GROUNDS FOR REVIEW 

Applying the considerations set forth in RAP 13 .4(b ), review should 

be accepted for the following reasons: 

(1) The Court of Appeals' opinion is in conflict with cases from 

the Washington Supreme Court regarding: (a) the requirement that an expert 

witness in a medical negligence case be familiar with the standard of care in 

the State of Washington governing the treatment at issue; (b) the manner in 

which a medical expert must express standard of care and causation opinions; 

(c) on the issue of informed consent, the requisite expert testimony on the 

likelihood of a risk occurring; and (d) when and how error is determined to be 

prejudicial. 

(2) In addition, the Court of Appeals' opinion involves issues of 

substantial public interest because it essentially overturns established 

standards with respect to the issues identified above, creating confusion for 

lawyers and judges. 
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V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. General Nature of Case and Claims, Identity of Parties and 
Relevant Procedure 

This is a medical negligence case. The Petitioners, and defendants 

below, are Andrew Howlett, M.D., et ux, and Providence Physician Services 

Company, aka Providence Orthopedic Specialties (hereinafter referred to 

collectively as "Dr. Howlett"). The Respondent, and plaintiff below, is 

Joshua Driggs (hereinafter referred to as "Mr. Driggs"). 

The case arises from a March 6, 2009, surgery performed by 

Dr. Howlett on Mr. Driggs' right lower extremity. CP 1-16. The purpose of 

the surgery, generally, was to remove a plate and screws that approximately 

five years earlier had been used to attach an allograft (cadaver bone) inserted 

in Mr. Driggs' distal tibia to replace an excised section of malignant bone. !d. 

Mr. Driggs claimed Dr. Howlett violated the standard of care during 

the March 6, 2009 surgery by not replacing the plate and screws with some 

other form of fixation, such as a metal rod or another plate. CP 7, 9. 

Mr. Driggs alleged this lack of fixation hardware resulted in the development 

of a fracture postoperatively. CP 7. Mr. Driggs also claimed Dr. Howlett was 

negligent with respect to post-operative care and treatment, particularly as it 

related to the initiation of weight bearing and physical therapy. CP 6. In 

addition, Mr. Driggs claimed Dr. Howlett failed to inform him of the risks 
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associated with not replacing the removed hardware with some other form of 

fixation. 

Dr. Howlett denied his decision not to install a rod or plate during the 

March 6, 2009, surgery was a violation ofthe standard of care. CP 59-63. He 

also denied a rod or plate, even if it had been placed, would have prevented 

the fracture which eventually developed. Id. Dr. Howlett denied he was 

negligent with respect to Mr. Driggs' post-operative care. /d. Finally, Dr. 

Howlett denied he failed to obtain Mr. Driggs' informed consent. /d. 

The jury returned a verdict in favor of Dr. Howlett. CP 164 7-48. 

B. Expert Testimony at Trial 

Mr. Driggs had two expert witnesses: Orthopedic surgeon Steven 

Graboff, M.D., from Huntington Beach, California, (RP 325-26) and 

Lawrence Menendez, M.D., an orthopedic oncologist from Los Angeles. 

CP 1323. 

Dr. Grabofftestified Dr. Howlett violated the standard of care by not 

installing an intramedullary rod or other fixation during the March 6, 2009, 

surgery. RP 395. He also opined that installation of a rod or other fixation 

would have prevented the fracture that developed postoperatively. RP 406-07. 

He further testified regarding the risks associated with not installing a rod or 

other fixation during the March 6, 2009, surgery. RP 385-87. 
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Mr. Driggs elected to present the testimony ofDr. Menendez by video 

perpetuation deposition. RP 1540. Dr. Menendez addressed the general nature 

of limb salvage procedures and distal tibial allografts and his knowledge of 

Mr. Driggs' medical history. CP 1318-41. However, for the reasons discussed 

below, the trial court did not allow Dr. Menendez to offer opinions on the 

standard of care or causation, or on the risks allegedly associated with 

Dr. Howlett not installing an intramedullary rod or other fixation during the 

March 6, 2009, surgery, and that testimony was stricken from the video 

deposition. RP 673-675. 

C. Trial Court Rulings Regarding The Admissibility Of Dr. 
Menendez's Opinions 

The trial court excluded Dr. Menendez's opinions on the standard of 

care because Dr. Menendez had not shown he was familiar with the standard 

of care in the State of Washington for the medical procedure at issue. 

RP 673~75. The trial court excluded Dr. Menendez's causation opinions 

because they were not expressed in terms of medical probability, to a 

reasonable degree of medical certainty. Id. The trial court excluded 

Dr. Menendez's testimony on informed consent and risk because, although 

Dr. Menendez identified fracture as a risk allegedly associated with 

Dr. Howlett not installing an intramedullary rod or other fixation:, he did not 

quantify that risk in any way. ld. RP 673-75. 
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VI. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES 

A. The Trial Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion In Finding 
That Dr. Menendez Was Not Qualified To Render An Opinion 
On The Applicable Standard Of Care In The State Of 
Washin&ton. 

Whether an expert witness is qualified to give opinion testimony is a 

matter oftrial court discretion. In re: Detention of AS, 138 Wn.2d 898, 917, 

982 P.2d 1156 (1999); State v. Perez, 137 Wn. App. 97, 104, 151 P.3d 249 

(2007). 

No expert witness is permitted to testifY over objection unless the 

witness has first been qualified by showing that he or she has sufficient 

expertise to state a helpful and meaningful opinion. SB Wash. Prac., 

Evidence Law & Practice §702.5 (51h Ed.), citing Sehlin v. Chicago 

Milwaukee St. Paul & Pacific R Co., 38 Wn. App. 125,686 P.2d 492 (1984). 

The necessary foundation to establish an expert's qualifications is 

normaliy established by questioning the expert him or herself. SB Wash. 

Prac., Evidence Law and Practice §702.6 (5th Ed.). "After the proponent has 

asked questions designed to bring expert's qualifications, the opponent 

should be allowed to question the witness about his or her qualifications - a 

practice sometimes called 'voir dire' of the witness." Id., citing City of 

Bellevue v. Lightfoot, 75 Wn. App. 214, 877 P.2d 247 (1994). 
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In a medical malpractice case, the trial judge must make a preliminary 

finding of fact under ER 1 04(a) as to whether an expert is qualified to express 

an opinion on the standard of care in Washington. Winkler v. Giddings, 146 

Wn. App. 387,392, 190 P.3d 117 (2008). That is because in Washington, the 

applicable standard of care in a medical negligence case is that the health care 

provider "failed to exercise that degree of care, skill, and learning expected of 

a reasonably prudent healthcare provider at that time in the profession or 

class to which he belongs, in the State of Washington, acting in the same or 

similar circumstances" (emphasis added). RCW 7.70.040(1). See also, Harris 

v. Groth, 99 Wn.2d 438,447 n.4, 663 P.2d 113 (1983) (RCW 7.70.040 limits 

those who set the standard of care to health care providers within the State of 

Washington). 

Testimony that the standard of care for the medical procedure or care 

at issue is a "national standard", standing alone, is insufficient to satisfy the 

statutory requirement. See, Winkler, supra. I. 

1. In other jurisdictions with some form of"local" standard of care (either statewide 
or community), courts have held that the mere proclamation that a "national 
standard" exists for the care and treatment at issue is not sufficient to qualifY the 
witness. Rather, the witness must also demonstrate that he or she has done some 
inquiry or investigation to determine whether the state or community standard is, in 
fact, the same as the purported national standard. See, e.g., Hall v. Rocky Mountain 
Emergency Physicians, LLC, 155 Idaho 322, 312 P.3d 313 (2013); Suhadolnik v. 
Pressman, 15lldaho 110,254 P.3d 11 (2011); Robinson v. LeCorps, 83 S.W.3d 718 
(Tenn. 2002); Harville v. Vanderbilt University, 95 Fed. Appx. 719 (6th Circ. 2003, 
Tennessee). 
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In the instant case, the trial court properly found under ER 104(a) that 

Dr. Menendez was not qualified to render a standard of care opinion because 

he did nothing to investigate or determine what the standard of care was in 

Washington (CP 1403), and simply expressed his belief that there was a 

"national standard of care" for the treatment at issue. CP 1343-46. 

Significantly, when the trial court made its ruling, it had heard 

testimony about the complex nature of oncological limb salvage surgery and 

the multiple factors considered by a surgeon in deciding to use stabilization 

hardware for an allograft. The court had also heard testimony that, in 

Washington, limb salvage surgeries and surgical follow up are typically done 

by orthopedic oncologists (RP 28), that orthopedic oncologists "disagree a 

lot," RP 97, and that, in Washington, fixation hardware is not always replaced 

when removed from a distal tibial allograft. RP 57-58; CP 1542-43; 

CP 1547-48. By contrast, Mr. Driggs' experts, both of whom were trained 

and/or practiced in California, testified that distal tibial fixation hardware, if 

removed, must always be replaced by substitute hardware. RP 395; 

CP 1345-46. 

The Court of Appeals accepted Mr. Driggs' contention that, because 

his other expert witness, Dr. Graboff, testified the Washington standard of 

care for the procedure at issue was the same as a purported national standard, 
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that served to qualify Dr. Menendez. The Court of Appeals cited no specific 

authority for the proposition that, in a medical negligence case, an expert's 

qualifications, particularly his familiarity with the standard of care, can be 

established by testimony from someone other than the witness hislher.2 Lack 

of authority for such a procedure is no surprise, as allowing it would make it 

difficult for opposing counsel and the court to determine a witness' 

qualifications in advance of the witness's testimony. Such a procedure would 

subvert the usual process of qualifying a witness before the witness is 

allowed to express an expert opinion, and, perhaps most significantly, deprive 

an opponent of the opportunity to meaningfully voir dire the proposed expert 

on his/her purported familiarity with the Washington standard. Indeed, the 

trial court recognized the inherent unfairness of depriving Dr. Howlett of the 

ability to examine Dr. Menendez on his purported familiarity with the 

Washington standard of care when it refused to allow Mr. Driggs to establish 

Dr. Menendez's qualifications with a hearsay declaration submitted during 

trial. The trial court properly characterized such a procedure as an "ambush," 

and refused to consider the declaration. RP 212-213. 

The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that Dr. Howlett advocates 

2 A leading treatise in Washington evidence law states: "The physician who 
testifies must be familiar with the standard of care applicable in the case at hand." 
5B Karl B. Tegland, Washington Practice: Evidence Law and Practice, §702.9, at 
54 (5th Ed. 2007). 
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a rule "that would require that an expert in a medical malpractice case know 

the standard of care in Washington State before the trial court accepts the 

witness as an expert." Court of Appeals Opinion, pg. 25. But the Court of 

Appeals then went on to state that "in so arguing, Providence may 

confusingly conflate the qualifications of an expert witness to testify with the 

opinions to which the witness may testify." /d. 

Dr. Howlett has not confusingly conflated these issues. Certainly an 

expert may rely on the opinions of another expert as the basis for his/her 

testimony if the requirements ofER 703 are satisfied. But the cases cited by 

the Court of Appeals do not support the proposition that the basic 

foundational requirement of an expert's qualifications- specifically his/her 

familiarity with the standard of care in a medical malpractice case - may 

somehow be satisfied with or by the testimony of another expert. 

B. The Trial Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion When It 
Excluded Dr. Menendez's Opinions On Medical Causation. 

A trial court's decision to exclude evidence, either as a sanction or on 

substantive grounds, is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Katare v. Katare, 

175 Wn.2d 23, 38,283 P.3d 546 (2012); Philippides v. Bernard, 151 Wn.2d 

376, 393, 88 P.3d 939 (2004). 

In Washington, expert testimony on causation must be expressed in 

terms of probability or likelihood, and also expressed to a "reasonable degree 
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of medical certainty." Davies v. Holy Family Hospital, 144 Wn. App. 483, 

492-93, 183 P.2d 283 (2008), citing McLaughlin v. Cooke, 112 Wn.2d 829, 

836,774 P.l171 (1989). See also, Reese v. Stroh, 128 Wn.2d 300,309,907 

P.2d 282 (1995). 

In the instant case Dr. Menendez failed to express his causation 

opinions in terms of likelihood/probability, to a reasonable degree of medical 

certainty. While Mr. Driggs' counsel proclaimed during Dr. Menendez's 

perpetuation deposition that he wanted Dr. Menendez to express his opinions 

in such terms, (RP 47) Dr. Menendez never agreed to do so, acknowledged 

that he would do so, or in fact stated a probability.Jd. 

The Court of Appeals concluded that Dr. Menendez's testimony met 

the McLaughlin standard (that testimony be expressed in terms of probability 

or likelihood, and to a "reasonable degree of medical certainty") because 

experts are not required to testify in a particular format, citing Leaverton v. 

Cascade Surgical Partners, PLLC, 160 Wn. App. 512, 520, 248 P.3d 136 

(2011) and White v. Kent Medical Center, Inc., 61 Wn. App. 163, 172, 810 

P .2d 4 (1991) and because, Dr. Menendez testified that removing a plate from 

a grafted cadaver bone without replacing the plate with another plate or rod 

"likely leads to a fracture." Court of Appeals Opinion, pg. 29. 
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The Court of Appeals was incorrect in this regard, for a number of 

reasons. First, McLaughlin requires that an expert express a causation opinion 

using certain language. Second, Dr. Menendez never testified that removing a 

plate from a grafted cadaver bone without replacing the plate with another 

plate or rod "likely leads to fracture." Rather, he stated: "So if you ill!! 

internal fixation in in a form of a rod, there is a likelihood that the allograft 

will fracture." CP 1347, 1350-51. (emphasis added). He then testified that 

"it's less likely that you'll get a fracture if you put fixation in to support the 

allograft. If you don't put fixation in, it's more likely that you'll have a 

fracture for the reasons I discussed earlier." /d. (emphasis added). "Less 

likely" and "more likely" are not the same as "not probable" and "probable." 

C. On The Issue of Informed Consent, The Court Properly Struck 
Dr. Menendez's Opinions Regarding Risk. 

The determination of materiality W1der RCW 7.70.050 is a two-step 

process. The first step is to ascertain the scientific nature of the risk and the 

likelihood or probability of its occurrence. Ruffer v. St. Francis Cabrini 

Hospital of Seattle, 56 Wn. App. 625, 631, 784 P.2d 1288 (1990), citing, 

Smith v. Shannon, 100 Wn.2d 26, 33,666 P.2d 351 (1983). Only a physician 

or other qualified expert is capable of determining the existence of a given 

risk and the chance of it occurring. !d. Testimony regarding the mere 
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existence of a risk "is not enough." Ruffer, supra, at 632.3 

In the instant case, while Dr. Menendez, at his perpetuation 

deposition, mentioned the "possible" consequences of not installing fixation 

hard ware (RP 41, 4 2, 51), he never quantified the risk in any way. The closest 

he came was to state that if you "don't put fixation in, it's more likely that 

you'll have a fracture ..... " RP 51. But he never quantified in any way how 

much more likely it would be for a fracture to occur in the absence of 

fixation. 

The Court of Appeals mentioned the "likelihood of occurrence" 

requirement of Smith, but focused on ER 702, and whether proffered expert 

testimony would be helpful to the trier of fact. Given the plain language of 

Smith, if expert testimony does not characterize or quantify a risk in any 

meaningful way, it is, by definition, not helpful to the trier of fact. Where an 

3 Washington is not alone in requiring expert testimony on the nature of risk a.Tld the 
likelihood of its occurrence. The following cases hold that, in order to make out an 
informed consent case, the plaintiff must offer expert testimony on the nature of risk 
and the likelihood of its occurrence: Festa v. Greenberg, 511 A.2d 1371 (PA 1986); 
Moure v. Raeuchle, 604 A.2d 1003 (PA 1992); Fitzpatrickv. Natter, 961 A.2d 1229 
(PA 2008); Precourt v. Frederick, 481 NE.2d 1144 (Mass 1985); Mederios v. 
Yashar, 588 A.2d 1038 (RI 1991); Beauvais v. Notre Dame Hospital, 387 A.2d 689 
(RI 1978); Brandt v. Engle, 791 S.2d 614 (LA 2001); Yahn v. Folse, 639 S.2d 261 
(LA 1994); Hondrou/is v. Schuhmacher, 553 S.2d 398 (LA 1988). 

Significantly, in Precourt v. Frederick, supra, the court emphasized that 
the use of vague terms such as "high" in relation to an identified risk does not 
satisfy the evidentiary requirement: '"High' is a relative word. It could mean one 
in ten, but it could just as well mean one in a million." (emphasis added). 481 
NE.2d at 1149. 
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expert witness simply identifies a risk, without quantifying the risk in any 

meaningful way, the jury is left to speculate on the nature of the risk, which it 

may not do. See, e.g., O'Donahue v. Riggs, 73 Wn.2d 814, 440 P.2d 823 

(1968); Bruns v. PACCAR, 77 Wn. App. 201,890 P.2d 469 (1995). 

The Court of Appeals concluded that Smith v. Shannon does not 

require a plaintiff's expert to assign a specific percentage to an alleged risk. 

Dr. Howlett agrees. However, the expert must quantify the risk in some 

meaningful way to satisfy the Smith requirement. See, e.g., Harbeson v. Park 

Davis, Inc., 746 F.2d 517 (9th Cir. 1984) (while expert did not identify 

percentages, his testimony was that the risk of a major congenital 

malformation with the mother taking prednisone was two to three times 

greater than normal, and that, in one study, of 192 babies born of women who 

took Dilantin, nine had malformations). 

D. Even If The Trial Court Erred In Excluding The Opinions Of 
Dr. Menendez, The Error Was Harmless Because Mr. Driggs' 
Other Expert, Dr. Graboff, Testified On The Same Issues. 

Trial court error with respect to the admission or exclusion of 

testimony is not prejudicial unless, within reasonable probabilities, the 

outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not 

occurred. State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997), 

citing State v. Tharp, 96 Wn.2d 591, 599, 63 7 P .2d 961 ( 1981 ). Exclusion of 
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evidence is not harmful error where the excluded evidence is merely 

cumuiative. Tumelson v. Todhunter, 105 Wn.2d 596, 603, 716 P.2d 890 

(1986). Thus, exclusion of witness is not prejudicial error unless the witness' 

testimony would have differed in a material respect from the testimony of 

other witnesses. Mason v. Bon Marche Corp. 64 Wn.2d 177, 179, 390 P.2d 

997 (1964). 

In the instant case, Mr. Driggs' other expert witness, Dr. Graboff, was 

allowed to testify on the standard of care, causation, and the risks associated 

with Dr. Howlett not inserting an intramedullary rod or other fixation during 

the March 6, 2009 surgery. Accordingly, Dr. Menendez's opinions on these 

issues were cumulative, and the trial court's exclusion of those opinions, even 

if erroneous, was hannless. 

The Court of Appeals, in its Opinion, noted that "error will be 

considered prejudicial if it presumptively affects the outcome of the trial." 

Court of Appeals Opinion, pg. 46, citing James S. Black & Company v. P & R 

Company, 12 Wn. App. 533,537,530 P.2d 722 (1975). Thatiscertainlytrue. 

However, Washington courts have found error to be "presumptively 

prejudicial" in only a limited number of specific situations. See, e.g., State v. 

Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 975 P.2d 967 (1999) (In a criminal case, 

constitutional error is presumed prejudicial, and the State bears the burden of 
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proving that the error was harmless); State v. Shearer, 181 Wn.2d 564, 334 

P.3d 1078 (2014) (Unless the trial court considers the Bone Club factors on 

the record before closing the trial to the public, the wrongful deprivation of 

the public trial right is a structural error presumed to be prejudicial); State v. 

Dunning, 8 Wn. App. 340,506 P.2d 321 (1973) (Where there is a legal error 

in a jury instruction given on behalf of the party in whose favor the verdict is 

returned, the error is presumed to be prejudicial and requires reversal unless it 

affirmatively appears that the error was harmless); State v. Levy, 8 Wn.2d 

630, 113 P.2d 306 (1941) (Conduct or remarks by a trial judge which are 

reasonably calculated to influence the judgment of the jury are presumed to 

be prejudicial unless they contrary is shown). The exclusion of expert 

testimony is not one of the limited situations where prejudice is presumed. 

The Court of Appeals also remarked that "when the reviewing court is

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