I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

The petitioners are Andrew Howlett, M.D., and Providence Physician 

Services Company, aka Providence Orthopedic Specialties, which will be 

referred to as "Dr. Howlett". This is an reply by Mr. Driggs to the Dr. 

Howlett's petition for review. 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner Dr. Howlett seeks discretionary review of The Court of Appeals 

Decision unpublished March 8, 2016 decision. Mr. Driggs motion for 

publication was granted on May 5, 2016. Copies of these have already 

been provided, and are referenced back to in order to save trees. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED REVIEW 

Mr. Driggs adds no new issues for review. Mr. Driggs disagrees with how 

Dr. Howlett framed the issues in motion for discretionary review, and 

contends the Court of Appeals better framed the issues. 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. General Nature of the Case and Claims 

This is a reply to Dr. Howlett's motion for discretionary review. 

V. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES 

Dr. Howlett's brief does a very cursory review of the requirements 

of RAP 13 .4( d), and then goes forward to reargue their appeal case 

without actually explaining how the elements of RAP 13.4(d) are met. 

Howlett Brief p. 2. Dr. Howlett's brief only names two reasons for 

granting their requested review, (1) claims that the Driggs appellate court 

conflicted with the Supreme Court's rulings, and (2) this is an important 

public interest. The crux of Dr. Howlett's brief is basically a re-argument 

of the case as they did to the court of appeals. Neither basis for review is 

correct, and based on the Driggs appellate court's agreement with the 

Supreme Court, as shown below, Mr. Driggs requests review be denied. 
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1) The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a 

decision of the Supreme Court. 

This op1n1on 1s consistent with pnor Supreme Court 

decisions. The appellate court held that the three trial court rulings were 

errors of law. Each of these errors of law (a) expert testimony to the 

standard of care, (b) causation testimony and (c) testimony on the 

materiality of the risk do not conflict with Supreme Court decisions. The 

Driggs appellate court found (d) harmful error was committed in these 

errors of law. As shown beneath, all of this comports with previous 

rulings by the Supreme Court. 

a. Standard for expert testimony in Washington 

The key holding by the appellate court here is that an expert can 

rely on the opinions of another expert when formulating opinions. Op. p. 

26. ER 703, and other cases cited by the appellate court approve of one 

expert relying on another expert. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 69 

(1994)(Experts rely on data collected by others in crime reports); Deep 

Water Brewing LLC v. Fairway Res. Ltd., 152 Wn. App. 229, 271 
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(2009)(Appraisal expert relies on the work of another appraiser); Volk v. 

Demeerleer, 184 Wn. App. 389, 430-431 (Expert psychologist relies on 

contacting a state psychologist for standard of care in Washington.). Dr. 

Howlett produces no Supreme Court authority that the Court of Appeals 

conflicts with in this matter, but instead relies on a conflict with Mr. 

Tegland's treatise in the Washington Practice: Evidence Law and 

Practice. Howlett's Briefp. 9 fn. 2. 

The appellate court decision actually analyzes three appellate court 

decisions, Hill v. Sacred Heart Medical Center, 143 Wn. App. 438 (2008), 

Winkler v. Giddings, 146 Wn. App. 387 (2008) and Ehler v. Larson, 142 

Wn. App. 243 (2007) that looked at the very same issue. The appellate 

court found this matter as most similar to Hill, and distinguished Winkler, 

in particular because another physician testified that Washington followed 

the national standard of care and no evidence contradicted that. Op. p. 28. 

In contrast, Dr. Howlett's main arguments are in regards to Winkler, an 

appellate court decision that the Driggs appellate court distinguished. 

There is no showing of any grounds for review under RAP 13 .4( d)( 1) of a 

conflict with the Supreme Court. 

The only possible conflict with the Supreme Court was in the 

underlying brief to the appellate court Dr. Howlett brought up the holding 

of McKee v. American Home Products Corp, 113 Wn.2d 701, 706-07 
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(1989) as holding that a physician cannot rely on another expert to 

establish that Washington follows the national standard of care. Op. p.25 

The appellate court distinguished that case as being factually different than 

this one. The McKee court stated that a physician from Arizona did not 

establish the standard of care of a pharmacist in Washington. Key to note 

is that the McKee court relied on the requirement that an expert from that 

field must establish the standard of care, not an expert in another the 

field. Since in this matter it was a physician testifying that Washington 

followed the national standard of care in that field, another physician was 

allowed to testify to the national standard of care. This did not conflict 

with McKee, but instead is well within ER 703 as laid out by the Supreme 

Court's rule making authority. 

b. Causation testimony should look at the entire record 

The appellate court's decision is that expert testimony must be 

based on a reasonable degree of medical certainty, but much like causation 

testimony, there is no requirement the exert utter certain talismanic 

words. Op. 31. This is in line with Reese v. Stroh, 128 Wn.2d 300, 305-

306, 309 (1995), which stated that statistics were not required in causation 
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testimony, only the requirements of ER 702 and reasonable medical 

certainty. 

The appellate court rightly notes it is safer to get a "yes" to the 

words on medical certainty, but the trial court must look to the whole 

substance of testimony rather than the form. The appellate court notes that 

the substance of Dr. Menendez's testimony is based on his medical 

expertise, education and experience rather than speculation or 

conjecture. The appellate court relied on White v. Kent Medical Center, 

Inc., 61 W n. App. 163 ( 1991) to hold that function prevails over form 

when evaluating the testimony of a witness. Op. p. 32. Mr. Driggs 

believes that the Supreme Courts rules and opinions prefer substance to 

form and talismanic words. 

Dr. Howlett's brief on this at best argues a conflict with the case 

McLaughlin v. Cooke, 112 Wn.2d 826, 836 (1989). However, 

McLaughlin does not require magical words of causation. McLaughlin 

says that for standard of care testimony, it must be based on a reasonable 

degree of medical certainty. Id The appellate court did not disagree with 

this, but rather looked at White 's ruling that the proof of a reasonable 

degree of medical certainty comes from viewing the testimony as a whole 

and not magical words. 
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Key here is that the McLaughlin Court was looking at the 

sufficiency of evidence to support a jury verdict and jury instructions. The 

McLaughlin court encouraged a holistic view of the evidence rather than a 

narrow view as can be seen by its statement: 

"It is not always necessary to prove every element of causation by 
medical testimony. If, from the facts and circumstances and the 
medical testimony given, a reasonable person can infer that the 
causal connection exists, the evidence is sufficient." I d. at 83 7. 

The Supreme Court in Reese and McLaughlin favored the 

substance of testimony, to some kind of magical words or statistics. This 

supports the appellate court's ruling in White that no magical words were 

required for standard of care testimony, but rather the trial court must look 

at the substance of the testimony. Here the Driggs appellate court has 

followed this arc of our law by requiring the trial court to look at the 

substance of Dr. Menendez's testimony in order to rule on whether or not 

the testimony was based on a reasonable degree of medical certainty. This 

does not conflict with the Supreme Court. 

c. Testimony on materiality of the risk 

Dr. Menendez was stopped from testifying to the materiality of the 

risk because he did not provide statistics or probability. The Supreme 
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Court decision in Reese is very clear that statistics are not necessary for 

causation testimony, but rather the standards of ER 702. Reese, 128 

Wn.2d at 309. There is no reason that should not apply to materiality of 

the risk testimony as well. 

The appellate court looked deeper at this matter, noting that the 

purpose of expert testimony is to equip the jury to place themselves in the 

position of a patient and decide whether, under the circumstances the 

patient should have been told of the risk. Op. p. 36. The Driggs appellate 

court found that the trial court did not give its basis for striking Dr. 

Menendez on this matter, but under ER 702 Dr. Menendez was clearly 

qualified and would have provided helpful information for the jury. Based 

on the purpose of expert testimony stated in Smith v. Shannon, 100 Wn.2d 

26, 32 (1983) and ER 702 this well comports with the Supreme Court's 

rulings and enacted evidence rules. 

Dr. Howlett's brief takes issue with the fact that the appellate court 

looked at ER 702 as its standard rather than Smith v. Shannon, 100 Wn.2d 

26 (1983). What Dr. Howlett fails to appreciate, is that the evidence rules 

have been laid out by the Supreme Court and Dr. Howlett's testimony had 

to be evaluated under ER 702. The only basis for striking an expert under 

another rule, would be to strike the entire claim under CR 50 or CR 56, 

both of which were not followed in this matter. In a CR 50 or a CR 56 
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motion, the sufficiency of evidence under Smith would be appropriate to 

review, under ER 703 it is the qualifications of the expert and whether or 

not the evidence is helpful to the jury like the appellate court did here. 

Dr. Howlett's brief incorrectly brings forward 0 'Donahue v. 

Riggs, 73 Wn.2d 814 (1968), as the conflict with the Supreme Court for 

testimony on material risk. 0 'Donahue looks at an expert who is asked to 

testify to medical causation after only one medical visit. In that case the 

expert states that he did not do enough testing to give a sound opinion, and 

the 0 'Donahue court concludes that this means he should not be able to 

give an opinion. ld at 821. This corresponds with the ER 702 analysis 

that admits expert testimony if it will be helpful to the jury in 

understanding matters outside the competence of a layperson, but keeps it 

out if it is not helpful because it is inaccurate. Anderson v. Akzo Nobel 

Coatings, Inc., 172 Wn.2d 593, 600-601(2011). 

The appellate court looked at the testimony of Dr. Menendez and 

found it showed a sufficient basis to be expert testimony. In particular the 

Driggs appellate court found the trial court's reason for excluding Dr. 

Menendez was based on an error of law that Dr. Menenedez should 

provide a percentage to the risk in order to help the jury. Op. p.44. The 

Driggs appellate court found the language "more likely" to be helpful to a 

jury, and it was an error of law to require a statistic or calculated 
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probability. /d. This coincides with the Supreme Court in Reese rather 

than posing the conflict Dr. Howlett alleges. 

d. The appellate court did not conflict with the Supreme Court on finding 

this to be harmful error 

"A harmless error is an error which is trivial, or formal, or merely 

academic, and was not prejudicial to the substantial rights of the party 

assigning it, and in no way affected the final outcome of the case." Anjison 

v. FedEx Ground Package System, Inc., 159 Wn. App 35, 44, 244 P.3d 32 

(2010), affirmed 174 Wn.2d 851 (2012). This is the standard the Driggs 

appellate court used to assess whether or not the striking of Dr. Menendez 

was harmless. Op. p 30. The Drigg's appellate court noted that 

cumulative evidence is often harmless, but found the following reasons for 

the striking of Dr. Menendez to be harmful here: 

i. The excluded opinions of Dr. Menendez probed the central 

issues in this case; 

ii. The jury garnered the misimpression that Dr. Menendez lacked 

key opinions on these key issues; 

iii. Dr. Howlett attacked the credentials of the other expert Dr. 

Graboff, which Dr. Menendez's credentials would not have been subject 

too. Op. p. 31. 
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The appellate court noted that none of the reported decisions 

concerned these three factors, and the appellate court found them to meet 

the standard of affecting the outcome of the case. Op. p. 32. This meets 

with the Supreme Court's view that striking of a witness is so harmful to a 

case that it is considered an extreme sanction. Blair v. Ta-Seattle East No. 

176, 171 Wn.2d 342, 348, 254 P.3d 797 (2011). 

An illuminating finding for harmless for cumulative evidence is in 

Jones v. City of Seattle, 179 Wn.2d 322, where the cumulative testimony 

was either not relevant or it was "cumulative and largely undisputed." 

Here we have an expert struck based on an abuse of discretion, and 

testimony that is heavily disputed and goes to the heart of the case. This 

clearly shows harmful error in line with our Supreme Court holdings. Dr. 

Howlett, however, incorrectly argues that the appellate court was wrong to 

look at its closing argument to find harmful error. Howlett briefp. 17-18. 

Looking at the closing arguments to find harmful error is actually 

approved by the Supreme Court's previous holdings. In the Supreme 

Court's holding of Anfinson, the Supreme Court looked solely to the 

closing arguments of counsel to find a misstated jury instruction was 

harmful error. Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Systems, Inc., 174 

Wn.2d 851, 876, 281 P.3d 289 (2012). The Anfinson court noted that the 

closing argument took a latent defect of the jury instruction, and turned it 
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into harmful error. While Dr. Howllett "unaware of any authority 

supporting the proposition that an appellate court can dissect counsel's 

closing argument to determine whether error in excluding evidence is 

harmless,"1 it is clear in Anfison that such appellate court actions are 

approved by the Supreme Court. The appellate decision of Anfison was 

the Drigg 's appellate court's basis standard of harmless error, and a 

review of the Supreme Court's upholding of Anfison shows that looking at 

the closing argument is not only allowed but encouraged. 

Dr. Howllett raises a second issue, that Mr. Driggs did not object 

during the closing argument to the harmful arguments. This violates the 

Supreme Court's statements in Anfison that the objection is required when 

the error occurs, and not when it becomes harmful. Id at 876. It is also 

not a cure to harmful error created in a closing statement to argue the other 

side could have argued the opposite. Id 

As noted by the Supreme Court in Anfinson, what could be a 

harmless error becomes harmful when one party actively argues the error 

in a closing statement. !d. The appellate court here aligned with the 

Supreme Court in this matter as can be seen by the Supreme Court's 

holding in Anfinson. 

1 Howllet's briefp. 17-18 

RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW- 12 



2. Dr. Howllett provides no argument on how this opinion 

involves issues of substantial public interest 

Dr. Howllett has shown no basis for the appellate court here 

overturning "established standards." Dr. Howllett also fails to do anything 

but a conclusory statement of this affecting the public interest. Because of 

th is Mr. Driggs has no response, because arguing conclusory statements 

only wastes this Court's t ime. 

Conclusion 

Because the appellate court produced a well-reasoned and correct 

result that does not warrant review by the Supreme Court under RAP 

13.4(b) we ask that review be denied.